

## Original Research Article

### Implementation of Stress Ulcer Prophylaxis (SUP) in an Intensive Care Unit (ICU)

#### Abstract

**Comment [k1]:**

•Please recheck for spelling and grammar mistakes.  
Authors are requested to go through the author's guidelines in the journal web site and in SDI and JPRI websites

**Comment [k2]:**

•Abstract for original article must be structured with the sub headings Background, Aims, Methods, Results and Conclusions.

**Comment [k3]:**

•Any acronym appearing first time in the abstract or main text must be within brackets preceded by the expanded version.

**Comment [k4]:**

•Exact place (institution) and period of study have to be mentioned both in the abstract and main text

Critically ill patients are at high risk for developing stress ulcer bleeding that may increase the length of hospitalization and mortality rates. Stress Ulcer Prophylaxis (SUP) may be done with either Proton Pump Inhibitors (PPIs) or H2 Receptor blockers-Antagonists (H2RAs) in critically ill patients was prescribed. This cross-sectional study was conducted in an intensive care unit. Patients who hospitalized for at least 72 hours and received SUP prophylaxis were included in our study. Updated American Society of Health System Pharmacist (ASHP) guideline was used for SUP risk score calculation. Patients received either PPIs or H2RA (intravenously or enteral). Efficacy and safety of early changes to enteral rout was ~~evaluate~~evaluated in one year and cost calculated in three years' period. This study was conducted in 150 patients with a mean age of patients were  $58 \pm 18$  years. More than half of patients (53.3%) patients were male. Stress ulcer prophylaxis was prescribed for all critically ill patients regardless of the risk of GI bleeding while only 76.6% of patients had an appropriate indication to receive SUP protocol. Six patients in the PPIs group (4 in intravenous and 2 in enteral) experienced gastrointestinal bleeding. Changing administration rout from intravenous to enteral was done in ~~During~~during three-year period mean pantoprazole vial use reduced from 12/patients to 4/patients. Early changing (within 72 hours) SUP from IV to enteral is safe and cost-saving approach.

26

27 **Key words:** Stress ulcer prophylaxis, Protocol implementation, Critically ill  
28 patients

**Comment [k5]:**  
•Key words must be 4-8 in number in MeSH terms other than those found in title in alphabetical order.

## 29 **Introduction**

30 Since being first described in 1969, Stress Ulcer Prophylaxis (SUP) has been  
31 commonly known to occur in critically ill patients. In addition, endoscopic  
32 evaluations have reported that as high as 74-100% of critically ill patients  
33 experience stress-related mucosal damage within 24 hours after admission [11](4).

**Comment [k6]:**  
•In text citation of reference numbers must be within square brackets before punctuation in the order of its first appearance in the main text.

34 In normal situations, oxygen supplies and bicarbonate-neutralized excessive acids  
35 can prevent mucosal injuries in the mentioned patients [2](2). Such risk factors as  
36 respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation, coagulopathy, hepatic and  
37 renal failure, circulatory shock, thermal injury, anticoagulants, and renal  
38 replacement therapy have been proposed for stress-related mucosal injuries  
39 [3,4](3,4). Prophylactic treatments with Proton Pump Inhibitors (PPIs), type-2  
40 histamine blockers (H2RA), and sucralfate have shown to reduce the incidence of  
41 stress-related injuries [2](2).

42 Several authorities have recommended some guidelines for SUP [5,6](5,6).  
43 The guidelines published by the American Society of Health System Pharmacist  
44 (ASHP) in 1999 have suggested either H2RA or sucralfate for SUP [6](6).  
45 However, the newly published statements and guidelines have proposed either  
46 H2RA or PPIs for SUP in critically ill patients [7](7).

47 SUP has been widely used in critically ill patients in pharmacoepidemiologic  
48 studies [8,9](8,9). Most patients receive PPIs for SUP, which may increase adverse  
49 effects and costs of prophylaxis [8](8).

50 Patients receiving omeprazole in bicarbonate solution have experienced an  
51 increase in their mean gastric PH values from  $3.5\pm 1.9$  to  $7.1\pm 1.1$ , while being  
52 involved in no gastrointestinal bleeding [\[11\]\(11\)](#).

53 The aim of the present single-center study was to investigate the  
54 implementation of enteral omeprazole granule administration instead of  
55 intravenous pantoprazole/ ranitidine for SUP in critically ill patients according to  
56 the ASHP guidelines [\[6\]\(6\)](#).

57

## 58 **Material and Method**

59 This research was conducted in a 16-bed general ICU in a tertiary hospital  
60 with no local guidelines for SUP. SUP with intravenous pantoprazole at a dose of  
61 40 mg is commonly utilized for nearly all the patients admitted to emergency  
62 departments. This investigation was done in an ICU to evaluate the appropriateness  
63 of the currently implemented SUP protocol for 72 critically ill patients, who stayed  
64 at least 72 hours in the study ICU. After assessing their tolerations of enteral  
65 medication, administration of enteral omeprazole granules was initiated at a daily  
66 dose of 20 mg. The nurses were educated about the proper way of opening the  
67 capsules and administering the granule intakes. In the case of intolerance and  
68 bleeding, an intravenous route of administration was followed. All the patients'  
69 demographic data and disease severity scores based on the Sequential Organ  
70 Failure Assessment (SOFA), Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation  
71 (APACHE-II), baseline biochemical parameters, rate of diarrhea-related  
72 clostridium difficile infections, bleeding events, and full blood cell count were  
73 recorded. The intravenous prophylactic regimens were changed to enteral  
74 omeprazole regimens for the patients as soon as they began to tolerate enteral

75 nutrition. Omeprazole was administered at a daily dose of 20 mg. The patients with  
76 active bleeding, a history of gastrointestinal bleeding in the previous month, and  
77 septic shock were excluded from the study. They were followed up twice a week  
78 for their possible adverse effects during their ICU stays. Early enteral nutrition was  
79 implemented for them as soon as possible. In the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> years, only the data  
80 regarding pantoprazole uses were recorded.

81

### 82 *Study protocol*

83 This study was conducted in a 16-bed ICU in Kermanshah University of  
84 Medical Sciences. The study protocol was prepared and updated according to the  
85 ASHP guidelines (Table 1) and approved by the ethical committee of the  
86 mentioned university with an ID number of 96033. The patients would be  
87 considered as SUP candidates if they met a very high risk or two high risk criteria.  
88 For these patients, omeprazole was administered at a dose of 20 mg compared with  
89 routine SUP regimes.

90 Descriptive statistics were used to report the data since most of them were not  
91 amenable to inferential testing. The normally distributed and skewed data were  
92 presented as mean±SD and a median (range), respectively. A student t-test or  
93 Mann-Whitney U-test was utilized when appropriate. The dichotomous data were  
94 compared using either Pearson's  $\chi^2$  or Fisher's exact test as appropriate. All the  
95 collected data were analyzed using SPSS-16 version.

96

### 97 **Results**

98 During the study period, 150 patients with a mean age of  $58\pm 18$  years  
99 fulfilled our study requirements. 80 out of 150 patients (53.3%) were male. Their  
100 baseline characteristics are shown in Table 2.

101 Only 115 out of 150 patients (76.6%) were SUP candidates, while 96  
102 (83.5%), 17 (14.8%), and 2 (1.7%) patients received PPIs, H2RA, and sucralfate  
103 for SUP, respectively. 26 (74.3%) and 9 (25.7%) out of 35 patients, who were not  
104 SUP candidates, received pantoprazole and ranitidine, respectively. Most PPI  
105 receivers (70.8%) were treated based on enteral SUP protocol either at initiation or  
106 after 72 hours. Enteral PPIs changed to an intravenous route in 11 out of 113  
107 patients (9.73%) (Table 3).

108 During the study period, 6 patients experienced overt gastrointestinal  
109 bleeding and needed to be treated with either intravenous pantoprazole (4 patients)  
110 or enteral omeprazole (2 patients). The mean SOFA score was significantly higher  
111 in the PPI compared with H2RA group ( $p=0.046$ ). Clostridium-associated diarrhea  
112 occurred in 11 out of 150 patients, who received PPIs for SUP, but no significant  
113 differences were seen between the two different protocols (11/115 patients vs. 0/35  
114 patients,  $p=0.21$ ). Hypomagnesemia occurred in 21 out of 150 patients (14%), but  
115 its incidence was not significantly higher in the PPI vs. H2RA receivers either  
116 [18/21 patients (85.7%) vs. 3/21 patients (14.3%),  $p=0.43$ ].

117 During the study period, 55 episodes of ventilator-associated pneumonia  
118 were diagnosed by the ICU team. Most of them occurred in the PPI group [51/55  
119 patients (92.7%) vs. 4/55 patients (7.3%),  $p=0.01$ ]. Finally, after the protocol was  
120 established, the use of intravenous pantoprazole vials significant decreased from 11  
121 to 7 and 4 per patients in Year 1 and 2 after the protocol establishment,  
122 respectively,  $p=0.02$ ). This result was corresponding to saving approximately

123 1,400,000 Iranian Rials for each patient without increasing risk of gastrointestinal  
124 bleeding.

125

## 126 **Discussion**

127 The results of the present research showed the SUP appropriateness in  
128 76.6% of the patients according to the ASHP guidelines, while most of them  
129 (83.5%) received PPIs [\[6\]\(6\)](#). Similarly, a multicenter study performed by Barletta  
130 et al. revealed an appropriateness percentage of 78% among the ICU-admitted  
131 patients [\[8\]\(8\)](#). Mechanical ventilation for more than 48 hours, shock, and  
132 coagulopathy are the main risk factors for GI bleeding and initiation of SUP [\[4\]\(4\)](#).  
133 The minority of our patients (14.7%) received H2RA for SUP, while about 30% of  
134 the patients in Barletta survey had received H2RA [\[8\]\(8\)](#).

135 In the current research, SUP was universally prescribed for all the ICU-  
136 admitted patients, most of whom received PPIs.

137 In our survey, no differences were found between the route of administration  
138 and incidence of gastrointestinal bleeding.

139 In our center, intravenous pantoprazole was commonly applied as an  
140 alternative agent for SUP initiation and maintenance, which might increase the  
141 treatment costs. In the present study, nasogastric or oral administration of  
142 omeprazole were initiated as soon as the patients showed toleration. GI bleeding  
143 rates were comparable in the patients, who received enteral and intravenous PPIs.  
144 No differences between the disease scores of SOFA or APACHE II were observed  
145 in those who received oral administration or intravenous route. The previous  
146 studies have compared the efficacies of nasogastric PPIs (omeprazole, rabeprazole,  
147 and lansoprazole) with that of H2RA [\[12-14\]\(12-14\)](#). Conrad et al. evaluated the

148 immediate-release formulation of omeprazole vs. intravenous infusion of  
149 cimetidine in their multicenter study on the ICU-hospitalized patients with  
150 APACH II score of 11 and higher for at least 48 hours. There was a significantly  
151 lower gastrointestinal bleeding rate in the patients, who received immediate-release  
152 omeprazole [13](43). In another study, Olsen and Devlin showed that rabeprazole  
153 suppressed acid in critically ill patients despite its lower bioavailability [14](44).

154 In our survey, the patients, who received PPIs, had more clostridium-  
155 associated diarrhea. The results obtained from different meta-analyses showed the  
156 higher efficacy of PPIs compared with H2RA, yet with different rates of adverse  
157 effects [15-18](45-47). In a recent meta-analysis, Alhazzani et al. reported the  
158 higher rate of pneumonia in the patients, who received PPIs for SUP [18](48). The  
159 uses of a low-sample size and pantoprazole in high-risk patients might be  
160 responsible for higher pneumonia episodes in our study.

161 Furthermore, a very recent study compared intravenous pantoprazole vs.  
162 placebo in critically ill patients at risk [19](49) representing clinically important  
163 events, such as bleeding, pneumonia, clostridium difficile infection, and  
164 myocardial infarction, which equally occurred in both groups [19](49). It should be  
165 noted that 4.2% and 2.5% of the patients in the placebo and pantoprazole groups  
166 experienced clinically significant bleeding, respectively; however, the study was  
167 not powered to address secondary endpoints [20](20). Therefore, we cannot  
168 recommend not using SUP in critically ill patients at a high and very high risk of  
169 stress ulcer-related bleeding.

170 In the present research, several medications (intravenous pantoprazole, enteral  
171 omeprazole, and enteral/intravenous ranitidine) were prescribed for SUP. Although  
172 a small sample size of the patients was included in the study, no differences were  
173 seen between the enteral and intravenous regimens. Therefore, our protocol could

174 be considered as a standard SUP and initiated for the patients as soon as they could  
175 tolerate enteral nutrition. However, nasogastric tube obstruction was the main  
176 complication of such an approach [21](24).

177 Our study had several limitations: first, our sample size was not enough to  
178 properly detect the differences between the different prophylaxis regimens (PPIs  
179 vs. H2RA); second, we were not able to measure intra-gastric PH levels.

180 Taken together, our research revealed that enteral omeprazole could serve as a safe,  
181 effective, and cheaper alternative for SUP.

182

183

#### 184 **References:**

185 1. Plummer MP, Blaser AR, Deane AM. Stress ulceration: Prevalence,  
186 pathology and association with adverse outcomes. *Crit Care*. 2014;-18(2):  
187 213.

188 2. Spirt MJ, Stanley S. Update on stress ulcer prophylaxis in critically ill  
189 patients. *Critical care nurse*. 2006;26(1):18-28.

190 3. Cook D, Guyatt G. Prophylaxis against Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding in  
191 Hospitalized Patients. Longo DL, editor. *N Engl J Med*. 2018;378(26):2506-  
192 2516.

193 4. Bardou M, Quenot JP, Barkun A. Stress-related mucosal disease in the  
194 critically ill patient. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2015;12(2):98-107.

195 5. ~~Madsen KR, Lorentzen K, Clausen N, Oberg E, et al.~~ Plummer MP,  
196 Blaser AR, Deane AM. Stress ulceration: Prevalence, pathology and

#### Comment [k7]:

- The references list should be in Vancouver style. For full details on this refer to the following link to university of Queensland (<http://www.library.uq.edu.au/training/citation/vancouver.pdf>)
- The titles of journals should be abbreviated according to the style used in Index Medicus and must be in italics.
- Use the complete name of the journal for non-indexed journals.
- et al. has to be used only if the number of authors exceeds 6.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic



- 197 [association with adverse outcomes. \*Crit Care\*. 2014;18\(2\): 213.](#)
- 198 2. [Spirt MJ, Stanley S. Update on stress ulcer prophylaxis in critically ill](#)  
199 [patients. \*Critical care nurse\*. 2006;26\(1\):18-28.](#)
- 200 3. [Cook D, Guyatt G. Prophylaxis against Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding in](#)  
201 [Hospitalized Patients. Longo DL, editor. \*N Engl J Med\*. 2018;378\(26\):2506-](#)  
202 [2516.](#)
- 203 4. [Bardou M, Quenot JP, Barkun A. Stress-related mucosal disease in the](#)  
204 [critically ill patient. \*Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol\*. 2015;12\(2\):98-107.](#)
- 205 5. [Madsen KR, Lorentzen K, Clausen N, Oberg E, Kirkegaard PR, Maymann-](#)  
206 [Holler N, et al Guideline for stress ulcer prophylaxis in the intensive care](#)  
207 [unit. \*Dan Med J\*. 2014;61\(3\):C4811-\*Dan Med J\*. 2014;61\(3\):C4811.](#)
- 208 6. ~~American Society of Health System Pharmacists. ASHP therapeutic~~  
209 ~~guidelines on stress ulcer prophylaxis. ASHP Commission on Therapeutics~~  
210 ~~and approved by the ASHP Board of Directors on November 14, 1998.~~  
211 ~~American Journal of Health System Pharmacy. 1999;56(4):347-79~~  
212 ~~ASHP Therapeutic Guidelines on Stress Ulcer Prophylaxis. ASHP Commission on~~  
213 ~~Therapeutics and approved by the ASHP Board of Directors on November~~  
214 ~~14, 1998. *Am J Health Syst Pharm*. 1999 Feb 15;56(4):347-79.~~
- 215 7. Rhodes A, Evans LE, Alhazzani W, Levy MM, Antonelli M, Ferrer R,  
216 ~~Kumar A, Sevransky JE, Sprung CL, Nunnally ME, Rochweg B et al.,~~  
217 Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of  
218 sepsis and septic shock: 2016. [Intensive Care Med](#).~~Intensive care medicine.~~  
219 2017;43(3):304-77.
- 220 8. Barletta JF, Kanji S, MacLaren R, Lat I, Erstad BL. Pharmacoepidemiology  
221 of stress ulcer prophylaxis in the United States and Canada. [J Crit Care](#). 2014

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic, No underline

222 | ~~Dec;29(6):955-60~~~~Journal of critical care. 2014 Dec 1;29(6):955-60.~~

223 | 9. Grube RR, May DB. Stress ulcer prophylaxis in hospitalized patients not in  
224 | intensive care units. ~~*Am J Health Syst Pharm.* 2007 Jul 1;64(13):1396-~~  
225 | ~~400~~~~American journal of health system pharmacy 2007 1;64(13):1396-400.~~

Formatted: Font: Italic

226 | 10. Levy MJ, Seelig CB, Robinson NJ, Ranney JE. Comparison of omeprazole  
227 | and ranitidine for stress ulcer prophylaxis. ~~*Dig Dis Sci.* 1997 Jun;42(6):1255-~~  
228 | ~~9~~~~Digestive diseases and sciences. 1997;42(6):1255-9.~~

Formatted: Font: Italic

229 | 11. Phillips JO, Metzler MH, Palmieri MT, Huckfeldt RE, Dahl NG. A  
230 | prospective study of simplified omeprazole suspension for the prophylaxis of  
231 | stress-related mucosal damage. ~~*Crit Care Med.* 1996 Nov;24(11):1793-~~  
232 | ~~800~~~~Critical care medicine. 1996;24(11):1793-800.~~

Formatted: Font: Italic

233 | 12. Pan X, Zhang W, Li Z, Xu G, Yin N, Wang D, et al. The preventive effects  
234 | of rabeprazole on upper gastrointestinal tract hemorrhage in patients with  
235 | severe acute pancreatitis. ~~*Chinese Journal of Gastroenterology* 2004;~~  
236 | ~~9(1):30-32.~~

Formatted: Font: Italic

237 | 13. Conrad SA, Gabrielli A, Margolis B, Quartin A, Hata JS, Frank WO, ~~et~~  
238 | ~~al.~~~~Bagin RG, Roek JA, Hepburn B, Laine L.~~ Randomized, double-blind  
239 | comparison of immediate-release omeprazole oral suspension versus  
240 | intravenous cimetidine for the prevention of upper gastrointestinal bleeding  
241 | in critically ill patients. ~~*Crit Care Med.*~~~~Critical care medicine.~~  
242 | 2005;33(4):760-5.

243 | 14. Olsen KM, Devlin JW. Comparison of the enteral and intravenous  
244 | lansoprazole pharmacodynamic responses in critically ill patients. ~~*Aliment*~~  
245 | ~~Pharmacol Ther.~~ 2008 Aug 1;28(3):326-33.~~Alimentary pharmacology &~~  
246 | ~~therapeutics. 2008;28(3):326-33.~~

Formatted: Font: Italic

- 247 15. Alhazzani W, Alenezi F, Jaeschke RZ, Moayyedi P, Cook DJ. Proton pump  
248 inhibitors versus histamine 2 receptor antagonists for stress ulcer prophylaxis  
249 in critically ill patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Care*  
250 ~~*MedCritical care medicine*~~. 2013;41(3):693-705.
- 251 16. Alhazzani W, Alshamsi F, Belley-Cote E, Heels-Ansdell D, Brignardello-  
252 Petersen R, Alquraini M, ~~Perner A, Møller MH, Krag M, Almenawer S,~~  
253 ~~Roehweg B.et al.~~, Efficacy and safety of stress ulcer prophylaxis in critically  
254 ill patients: a network meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Intensive Care*  
255 ~~*MedIntensive care medicine*~~. 2018 Jan 1;44(1):1-1.
- 256 17. Alhazzani W, Guyatt G, Alshahrani M, Deane AM, Marshall JC, Hall R,  
257 ~~Muscedere J, English SW, Lauzier F, Thabane L, Arabi YM.et al.~~,  
258 Withholding pantoprazole for stress ulcer prophylaxis in critically ill patients:  
259 a pilot randomized clinical trial and meta-analysis. *Crit Care MedCritical*  
260 ~~*care medicine*~~. 2017;45(7):1121-9.
- 261 18. Alhazzani W, Alshamsi F, Belley-Cote E, Heels-Ansdell D, Brignardello-  
262 Petersen R, Alquraini M, ~~Perner A, Møller MH, Krag M, Almenawer S,~~  
263 ~~Roehweg B.et al.~~, Efficacy and safety of stress ulcer prophylaxis in critically  
264 ill patients: a network meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Intensive Care*  
265 ~~*MedIntensive care medicine*~~. 2018;44(1):1-1.
- 266 19. Krag M, Marker S, Perner A, Wetterslev J, Wise MP, Schefold JC, ~~Keus F,~~  
267 ~~Guttormsen AB, Bendel S, Borthwick M, Lange T. et al.~~, Pantoprazole in  
268 Patients at Risk for Gastrointestinal Bleeding in the ICU. *N Engl J Med.*~~*New*~~  
269 ~~*England Journal of Medicine*~~. 2018;379(23):2199-208.
- 270 20. Barkun A, Bardou M. Proton-Pump Inhibitor Prophylaxis in the ICU —  
271 Benefits Worth the Risks? *N Engl J Med* [Internet]. 2018;NEJMe1810021.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

272 Available from: <http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMe1810021>

273 21. Wensel TM. Administration of proton pump inhibitors in patients requiring  
274 enteral nutrition. [P T, 2009 Mar; 34\(3\): 143–160.](#)~~Pharmacy and Therapeutics.~~  
275 [2009;34\(3\):143.](#)

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

276

277

278

279

280

281

282

283

284

285

286

287

*Table 1: SUP check-list guidelines*

<b>Very High Risk</b>
Mechanical ventilation >48 h
Coagulopathy (INR >1.5 or platelet count <50000 mm)
<b>High Risk</b>

Sepsis
Renal failure (BUN/Cr)
Hepatic failure (AST, ALT, and ALP)
Hypotension (systolic blood pressure <100 mm Hg)
Trauma
Major surgery (lasting >4 h)
Burns (>35% BSA)
Anticoagulation
Spinal or head injury
MI
Neurologic surgery
Multiple organ failure
Ileus
High-dose corticosteroid (>250 mg)
Past history of gastric ulcer
Low intragastric PH level

288

289

290

291

292

293

294

295

296

297

298

299

300

301

302

303

304

305

*Table 2: The patients' baseline characteristics*

Parameter	PPI receiver	H2B receiver	P value
APACHEII. 1	17±5	12±4	0.137
APACHEII. 2	16±5	12±5	0.346
APACHEII. 3	16±5	12±4	0.335
SOFA. 1	8±2	5±1	0.046*

SOFA. 2	8±1	6±1	0.011*
SOFA. 3	7±2	5±1	0.411
Na1	140±6	137±4	0.031*
Na2	138±4	137±2	0.7
K1	3.9±.7	3.9±.5	0.791
K2	3.9±.5	3.7±.39	0.024*
WBC1	10±5	10±3	0.817
WBC2	11±5	10±3	0.770
Cr1	1.4±1.1	1.1±0.6	0.738
Cr2	1.4±1.3	1.1±0.5	0.767
INR	1.2±.4	1.1±.19	0.881
PLT1	205±98	210±68	0.258
PLT2	198±111	201±59	0.389
GFR	74±39	77±33	0.618

306

307

308

309

310 ***Table 3: The route of administration at the time of admission and its changes***  
 311 ***during ICU stay***

SUP route of administration in the	PPI receivers	H <sub>2</sub> RB receivers
------------------------------------	---------------	-----------------------------

candidate groups		
Intravenous (IV) administration	22/113 (19.5%)	6/17 (35.3%)
Enteral administration	37/113 (32.7%)	6/17 (35.3%)
Change of IV to enteral administration	43/113 (38.1%)	9/35 (25.7%)
Change of enteral to IV administration	10/113 (8.8%)	3/35 (8.6%)
Change of IV to continuous infusion	1/113 (0.9%)	

312

313